IN THE SUPREME COURT THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC09-1914 Lower Tribunal No. 4D08-2482

DONALD WENDT, KENNY WENDT and CLARKE WARNE, Petitioners,

v.

LA COSTA BEACH RESORT CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION, INC., Respondent.

PETITIONERS' INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM A DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

Keith T. Grumer, Esq. Florida Bar No. 504416 Rowena D. Reich, Esq. Florida Bar No. 549592 Grumer & Macaluso, P.A. Attorneys for Petitioners One East Broward Boulevard Suite 1501 Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33301

Telephone: (954) 713-2700 Facsimile: (954) 713-2713

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioners, DONALD WENDT, KENNY WENDT and CLARKE WARNE, are the Appellants/Plaintiffs below and are collectively referred to herein as "DIRECTORS".

Respondent, LA COSTA BEACH RESORT CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION, INC., is the Appellee/Defendant below and is referred to herein as "ASSOCIATION".

References to the Record will be designated as "R" followed by the page number(s) and paragraph number(s) when applicable.

References to the Appendix will be designated as "A" followed by the page number(s).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

Nature of the Case

This is an appeal from a decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal holding DIRECTORS did not and cannot state a cause of action against ASSOCIATION for contractual or statutory indemnification in connection with a prior action ASSOCIATION brought against them because Florida law does not recognize a right to indemnification in connection with the defense of actions between a corporation and its directors in the absence of a right to common law indemnity and affirming the dismissal of DIRECTORS' initial complaint with prejudice (the "Decision"). (A:1-5)

The Facts

ASSOCIATION is the Florida corporation not for profit responsible for operating and maintaining La Costa Beach Club Resort, a Condominium ("La Costa"). ASSOCIATION is contractually obligated to indemnify its officers and directors by Article XII of its Bylaws entitled "Indemnifications" (the "Indemnification Provision"). The Indemnification Provision specifically states:

The Association *shall* indemnify every Director and every Officer, his heirs, and personal representatives against all loss, cost and expense reasonably incurred by him in connection with any action, suit or

¹ The Declaration of Condominium, Articles of Incorporation, By-Laws (the "By-laws") and all amendments thereof governing the operation and administration of La Costa were made part of DIRECTORS' Complaint as Composite Exhibit "A". (R. 9-84)

proceeding to which he may be made a party by reason of his being or having been a Director or Officer of the Association, except to matters wherein he shall be finally adjudged in such action, suit or proceeding, to be liable for or guilty of gross negligence or willful misconduct. The foregoing rights shall be in addition to and not exclusive of all other rights to which such Director or Officer may be entitled. (Emphasis added.)

(R76)

DIRECTORS are La Costa unit owners who formerly served on ASSOCIATION's Board of Directors without compensation. (A:1, R2, 3 ¶¶6,9,10-12) ASSOCIATION filed an action against DIRECTORS in 2003 based upon alleged breaches of the fiduciary duty owed in their respective capacities as directors (the "Earlier Action"). There is no final adjudication holding DIRECTORS liable for or guilty of gross negligence or willful misconduct.² (A:1, R3, ¶13, R4, ¶20, R86-91)

DIRECTORS filed a separate action against ASSOCIATION (the "Indemnification Proceeding") seeking: (i) contractual indemnification based upon the Indemnification Provision and *Fla. Stat.* §607.0850(9)(b) (A:1, R1-5,¶¶1-26); (ii) mandatory statutory indemnification pursuant to *Fla. Stat.* §§607.0850(2),

² The Second Amended Complaint filed in the Earlier Action under Broward County Circuit Court Case No. 03-12095 CACE 03 was made part of DIRECTORS' Complaint as Exhibit "B". (R.86-91) The Decision contains a recitation of the jury findings and trial court's granting of DIRECTORS' motion for new trial in the Earlier Action even though these specific facts are not contained within the four corners of DIRECTORS' Complaint and attached exhibits. (A:1)

607.0850(3) and 607.0850(9)(a) (A:1, R1-3, $\P\P1$ -15, R5-7, $\P\P2$ 7-32) and (iii) statutory indemnification pursuant to *Fla. Stat.* §607.0850(9)(c) in connection with the Earlier Action. (A:1, R1-3, $\P\P1$ -15, R7-8, $\P\P3$ 3-37) DIRECTORS specifically allege they (i) served as uncompensated volunteers on ASSOCIATION's Board of Directors, (ii) properly discharged their duties as directors and (iii) acted in good faith and in a manner each reasonably believed to be in, or not opposed to, the best interests of ASSOCIATION with regard to the exercise of their business judgment in the Indemnification Proceeding. (R6, $\P31$, R7-8, $\P36$)

This appeal arises out of the Indemnification Proceeding. ASSOCIATION moved to dismiss DIRECTORS' initial complaint contending: (i) DIRECTORS failed to state a cause of action under Florida law and (ii) DIRECTORS waived their indemnification claims by failing to assert them as counterclaims in the Earlier Action (the "Motion to Dismiss"). (R139-153) The trial court granted the Motion to Dismiss without hearing and entered a final order dismissing the Indemnification Proceeding with prejudice (the "Dismissal Order"). (R 265,266)

DIRECTORS sought reversal of the Dismissal Order in the appeal below. The Fourth District dispensed with oral argument and affirmed the Dismissal Order in all respects. (A:1-5) DIRECTORS sought discretionary review by this Court pursuant to *Art.* V, §§3(b)(3) and 3(b)(4), *Fla. Const.* and *Fla. R. App. P.* 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv) and 9.030(a)(2)(A)(vi) after the Fourth District denied

DIRECTORS' Motions for Rehearing and Rehearing *En Banc*. This Court entered an order accepting jurisdiction on February 5, 2010.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Decision's holding that Florida law does not recognize a right to indemnification in connection with actions between a corporate indemnitor and its directors in the absence of a right to common law indemnity is contrary to the plain language of *Fla. Stat.* §607.0850 and in conflict with interpretative case law finding entitlement to indemnification under similar circumstances.

The Decision nullifies vital rights explicitly bestowed by Florida law and abrogates a statutory scheme intentionally designed to encourage corporate service by qualified persons by protecting participants in both for profit and not for profit corporate governance from exposure to an excessive risk of undue financial responsibility for the defense of claims asserted against them by reason of their corporate actions and capacity. The Decision also eviscerates contractual protection expressly authorized by *Fla. Stat.* §607.0850(7) and customarily afforded by corporate documents.

ASSOCIATION, as indemnitor, is obligated by *Fla. Stat.* §607.0850 and the Indemnification Provision to indemnify DIRECTORS, as indemnitees, in connection with the Earlier Action even though ASSOCIATION is also the party suing them for damages. DIRECTORS are entitled to indemnification because they were sued as a direct consequence of having served on ASSOCIATION's governing board and there is no final adjudication against them establishing any of

the prohibitive conduct delineated by *Fla. Stat.* §607.0850(7) or the terms of the Indemnification Provision.

The plain language of *Fla. Stat.* §607.0850(9) gives DIRECTORS the right to seek court-ordered indemnification as the result of ASSOCIATION's failure and refusal to meet its contractual and statutory indemnification obligations.³ The Decision must be quashed and the Dismissal Order must be reversed because all three counts of the complaint properly state a cause of action upon which relief may be granted under Florida law.

The Dismissal Order must also be reversed because it is contrary to the plain language of *Fla. Stat.* §607.0850(9) which expressly recognizes claims for corporate indemnification as independent actions that do not ordinarily arise out of the transaction or occurrence that is the subject matter of the underlying proceeding. DIRECTORS' indemnification claims arise from the contractual Indemnification Provision in ASSOCIATION's Bylaws and statutory rights created by *Fla. Stat.* §607.0850(2), 607.0850(3) and *Fla. Stat.* §607.0850(9). Such claims fall outside the scope of compulsory counterclaims contemplated by *Fla. R. Civ. P.* 1.170(a) because ASSOCIATION's claims in the Earlier Action arise from a different transaction or occurrence to wit: alleged breaches of fiduciary duty.

³ Fla. Stat. §607.0850(9) is procedural in nature and authorizes application for indemnification "to the court conducting the proceeding, to the circuit court, or to another court of competent jurisdiction" upon "the failure of a corporation to provide indemnification".

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard upon review of an order dismissing a complaint for failure to state a cause of action with prejudice is *de novo. Fla. Dept. of Corrections v. Abril*, 969 So.2d 201, 204 (Fla. 2007); *Stubbs v. Plantation General Hospital LP*, 2008 WL 2907995, *1 (Fla. 4th DCA 2008); *Garnac Grain Co, Inc. v. Mejia*, 962 So.2d 408, 410 (Fla. 4th DCA 2007).

"The reviewing court 'must accept the allegations of the complaint as true, but do[es] not defer to the trial court's conclusions regarding the sufficiency of the allegations'." *Jiminez v. Community Asphalt Corp.*, 968 So.2d 668, 670 (Fla. 4th DCA 2007)(Citation omitted.) "[A] complaint should not be dismissed for failure to state a claim unless it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of his claim which would entitle him to relief." *Conley v. Gibson*, 355 U.S. 41, 78 S.Ct. 99, 102 2. L.Ed. 80 (1957); *Jiminez*, 968 So.2d at 670.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DECISION MUST BE REVERSED BECAUSE IT VITIATES IMPORTANT INDEMNIFICATION RIGHTS CREATED BY THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF *FLA. STAT.* §§607.0850(2), 607.0850(3), 607.0850(7) AND 607.0850(9) IN CONNECTION WITH ACTIONS BETWEEN A CORPORATION AND ITS DIRECTORS AND IS CONTRARY TO INTERPRETATIVE CASE LAW

The current provisions of *Fla. Stat.* §§607.0850(2) and 607.0850(3) expressly impose a mandatory indemnification obligation on corporations for expenses incurred by officers and directors in "any proceeding by or in the right of the corporation" "if such person acted in good faith and in a manner he or she reasonably believed to be in, or not opposed to, the best interests of the corporation" after a defense that is wholly or partially "successful on the merits or otherwise". *Fla. Stat.* §§607.0850(2) and 607.0850(3) The Decision is contrary to the plain language of *Fla. Stat.* §607.0850(2) and must be reversed because the Fourth District failed to correctly recognize that "any proceeding by or in the right of the corporation" specifically contemplates all "action[s] between a corporation and its directors". (A:4)

A. Statutory Indemnification

Florida law governing corporations for profit has expressly permitted corporate indemnification of directors in connection with actions "by or in the right of the corporation" since the 1963 enactment of *Fla. Stat.* §608.13(14)(b). The 1971 enactment of *Fla. Stat.* §608.13(14)(c) first made such indemnification

mandatory when a director's defense is "successful on the merits or otherwise".

The 1982 enactment of *Fla. Stat.* §617.028 extended the applicability of *Fla. Stat.* §607.014, then governing indemnification by corporations for profit, to corporations not for profit for the first time.⁴ The legislative extension of statutory indemnification to directors of corporations not for profit and statutory distinction between the treatment of developer appointees and owner elected condominium directors delineated by *Fla. Stat.* §617.0831 preclude reliance upon prior law to limit the scope of corporate indemnification to which condominium directors are now entitled.⁵

The statutory exclusion of developer directors from the protection afforded owner elected directors prevents the anomaly that would result if developer appointees could seek payment from owners who had sued them successfully based upon exculpatory clauses drafted by the condominium developer and renders

_

⁴ *Fla. Stat.* §617.0831 entitled "Indemnification and liability of officers, directors, employees and agents" renders the provisions of *Fla. Stat.* §607.0831 entitled "Liability of directors" and *Fla. Stat.* §607.0850 also entitled "Indemnification and liability of officers, directors, employees and agents" applicable to corporations not for profit organized pursuant to *Fla. Stat. Ch.* 617 and rural electric cooperatives organized pursuant to *Fla. Stat. Ch.* 425. *Fla. Stat.* §617.0831 replaced *Fla. Stat.* §617.028 effective July 1, 1991. *Fla. Stat.* §607.0850 replaced *Fla. Stat.* §607.014 effective July 1, 1990.

⁵ The plain language of the current statute, *Fla. Stat.* §617.0831, expressly excludes condominium developer appointees from the definition of "director" used in *Fla. Stat.* §607.0850

the case law upon which the Decision relies obsolete.⁶ The Decision's reliance upon cases that did not consider the provisions of *Fla. Stat.* §607.0850(7) or its predecessor because they arose before the 1982 enactment of *Fla. Stat.* §617.028 is misplaced.

Florida law reflects an express legislative intent to encourage corporate service through protection from undue financial hardship:

[t]he service of qualified persons on the governing boards of nonprofit corporations and associations is critical to the efficient and effective conduct of such organizations in the provision of services and other benefits to the citizens of the state . . . [W]ithin reasonable limits, persons offering their services as directors of such nonprofit organizations should be permitted to perform without undue concern for the possibility of litigation arising from the discharge of their duties as policy makers . . . [T]he service of qualified persons on the governing boards of corporations, credit unions, and self-insurance trust funds is in the public interest and . . . Within reasonable limitations, such persons should be permitted to perform without undue concern for the possibility of litigation arising from the discharge of their duties as policy makers . . .

Ch. 87-245, §1, Laws of Fla.

The plain language of *Fla. Stat.* §607.0850(2) specifically permits indemnification in connection with "any proceeding by or in the right of the

⁶ Century Village, Inc. v. Chatham Condominium Associations, 387 So.2d 523 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980)(Lessor precluded from recovering attorneys fees under its own condominium recreation lease.) The same rationale was applied in both Penthouse North Association, Inc. v. Lombardi, 461 So.2d 1350 (Fla.1984) and Old Port Cove Property Owners Association, Inc. v. Ecclestone, 500 So.2d 331 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986)(Developer appointed directors sued for breaches of fiduciary duty held to be precluded from relying upon their own documents as a basis for entitlement to the recovery of attorneys fees.)

corporation" and even contemplates such indemnification after an adjudication of liability "to the extent that, the court in which such proceeding was brought, or any other court of competent jurisdiction" determines "such person is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnity for such expenses which such court shall deem proper" "despite the adjudication of liability but in view of all circumstances of the case". Fla. Stat. §607.0850(2) is based upon §8.51 of the Model Business Corporation Act (the "Model Act") which similarly permits indemnification "in connection with a proceeding by or in the right of the corporation" subject to certain limitations.

Fla. Stat. §607.0850(3) requires corporate indemnification for "expenses actually and reasonably incurred" in connection with "any proceeding by or in the right of the corporation" as "referred to" by Fla. Stat. §607.0850(2) "[t]o the extent . . . a director . . . has been successful on the merits or otherwise in defense of any proceeding . . . or in defense of any claim, issue or matter therein". See Winner v. Catalado, 559 So.2d 696, 697 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1990)(Corporation obligated to indemnify defendant named in shareholders derivative action after he won.) Fla. Stat. §607.0850(3) is based upon §8.52 of the Model Act which similarly "creates a

⁷ The Decision fails to address the plain language of *Fla. Stat.* §607.0850(2). The Decision mentions *Fla. Stat.* §607.0850(1) without explanation. (A:1) That subsection does not apply in this case because the scope of indemnification allowed by that subsection is limited to proceedings "*other than* an action by, or in the right of, the corporation". (Emphasis supplied.)

statutory right of indemnification in favor of the director who meets the requirements of that section". *Official Comment*, §8.52

Florida is one of eight states⁸ that have enacted separate statutory provisions to expressly provide for indemnification in connection with actions by the corporation and one of thirteen states⁹ with statutory provisions authorizing indemnification for more than just expenses in connection with such actions. ABA, *Model Business Corp. Act Annot.*, 8-410-8-411 (2008)

§1 of the Introductory Comment to Ch. 8, Subch. E of the Model Act recognizes:

Indemnification (including advance for expenses) provides financial protection by the corporation for its directors against exposure to expenses and liabilities that may be incurred by them in connection with legal proceedings based on an alleged breach of duty in their service to or on behalf of the corporation. Today, when both the volume and the cost of litigation have increased dramatically, it would be difficult to persuade responsible persons to serve as directors if they were compelled to bear personally the cost of vindicating the propriety of their conduct in every instance in which it might be challenged.

(Emphasis added.)

§2 of the Introductory Comment to Ch. 8, Subch. E of the Model Act further explains:

⁸ The others states are Illinois, Louisiana, Maryland, Michigan, Missouri, Nevada and New York.

⁹ The others states are District of Columbia, Illinois, Indiana, Louisiana, Maryland, Michigan, Minnesota, Missouri, Nevada, New York, North Dakota and Wisconsin.

The basic standards for indemnification set forth in this subchapter for a civil action . . . are good faith and reasonable belief that the conduct was in or not opposed to the best interests of the corporation. . . . In some circumstances, a director or officer may be found to have violated a statutory or common law duty and yet be able to establish eligibility for indemnification under these standards of conduct. In addition, this subchapter permits a director or officer who is held liable for violating a statutory or common law duty, but who does not meet the relevant standard of conduct, to petition a court to order indemnification . . . on the ground that it would be fair and reasonable to do so.

Emphasis added.

These policy considerations are especially significant in the context of a not for profit condominium association where the board of directors is comprised of uncompensated unit owners who volunteer their services.

B. Statutory Interpretation And Application

Interpretative case law has consistently recognized that *Fla. Stat.* §607.0850 can obligate a corporation to indemnify its directors in connection with an action between itself and the director indemnitees even though it is the same party suing them for damages. The Decision nullifies the plain language of the statute.

The Fourth District considered the 1977 version of *Fla. Stat.* §607.014(2), which is substantively similar to the current version of *Fla. Stat.* §607.0850(2), in *Penthouse North Association, Inc. v. Lombardi*, 436 So.2d 184 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983) approv'd in part, quashed in part, 461 So.2d 1350 (Fla. 1984). This Court expressed no issue with the Fourth District's statutory construction and conclusion

that "as can be seen from section 607.014(2) an officer and director is entitled under certain circumstances, to indemnity, notwithstanding adjudication of liability against him in favor of the corporation". **Penthouse North Association*, Inc., 436*
So.2d at 187

The Second District affirmed a determination that, under a prior statute containing language identical to *Fla. Stat.* §607.0850(9)(c), former director indemnitees of a corporation not for profit were entitled to attorneys fees they had incurred in connection with an action they brought against the indemnitor corporation to compel production of its books in *Myakka Valley Ranches Imp. Ass'n, Inc. v. Bieschke*, 610 So.2d 3 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1992).

The Decision recognizes conflict with *Turkey Creek Master Owners Ass'n, Inc. v. Hope*, 766 So.2d 1245, 1247 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000). That case involved a homeowners association's appeal of an order determining the former director indemnitees who had been sued by that indemnitor corporation for breach of fiduciary duty were entitled to indemnification under *Fla. Stat.* §607.0850(9)(c) based solely on the pleadings. The First District reversed the order but remanded the matter for the trial court "to consider the relevant circumstances" as required by *Fla. Stat.* §607.0850(9)(c) and authorized the trial court to "again enter such an

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