IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC09-1914 Lower Tribunal No. 4D08-2482

DONALD WENDT, KENNY WENDT, and CLARKE WARNE,

Petitioners,

v.

LA COSTA BEACH RESORT CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION, INC.

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM A DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

Michael W. Moskowitz, Esquire Fla. Bar No. 254606 Scott M. Zaslav, Esquire Fla. Bar No. 0076295 MOSKOWITZ, MANDELL, SALIM& SIMOWITZ, P.A. Attorneys For Respondent 800 Corporate Drive, Suite 500 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33334

Tel: (954) 491-2000 Fax: (954) 491-2051

E-Mail: MMoskowitz@mmsslaw.com

E-Mail:SZaslav@mmsslaw.com

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

principles of judicial efficiency/economy and undermines the very purpose of the compulsory counterclaim rule set forth in Rule 1.170(a), Fla.R.Civ.P.

B. The Indemnification Claims Were Mature/Ripe For Adjudication When The Former Directors Filed Their Counterclaim In The Association's Lawsuit.

The Former Directors erroneously suggest that the indemnity claims were not compulsory and have not been waived because: "they were not mature as a matter of law..." [IB. pp.26-28]. Yet, the Former Directors expressly alleged in the Indemnification Complaint that the Association's Second Amended Complaint for breach of fiduciary duty was: "devoid of allegations of willful or knowing misconduct on the part of the DIRECTORS." [R.3, ¶13]. Assuming, arguendo, that such allegations were true, the Former Directors ability to sue for indemnity clearly matured and came into existence, at the very latest, when the Second Amended Complaint was filed in the Association's Lawsuit supposedly lacking such allegations of willful or knowing misconduct.¹⁹

¹⁹ The Former Directors' reliance on *Kellogg v. Fowler, White, Burnett, Hurley, Banick & Strickroot, P.A.*, 807 So.2d 669 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002) is misplaced. [IB. p.27]. There, the client's legal malpractice claim against the Fowler, White law firm was not mature/compulsory at the time of Fowler, White's lawsuit against its client (to recover for unpaid attorneys fees in connection with its representation of the client in certain bankruptcy proceedings), *because of the client's appeals that were pending in the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeal relating to the bankruptcy proceedings. Id.* at 672. The client's malpractice claim did not mature <u>until the conclusion of the appeals</u>.

The indemnity claims actually matured earlier than the filing of the Association's Second Amended Complaint. The claims matured in July, 2003 when the Association filed its lawsuit since that is when the Former Directors first began incurring expenses in defending themselves against the breach of fiduciary duty claim. [R.3, ¶14]. *Compare, Chew v. Lord*, 181 P.3d 25 (Wash.App.2008). In that case, Robert Lord ("Lord"), was a participant in a scavenger hunt and sued, amongst others, the operator of the hunt, Chee Chew ("Chew"), for personal injuries sustained during the hunt in a Nevada lawsuit. Although Lord had signed a waiver of liability form containing certain indemnification provisions in favor of Chew, Chew failed to assert <u>any</u> indemnity claims against Lord in the Nevada personal injury action.

Instead, like the Former Directors, Chew subsequently filed a *separate lawsuit* in Washington seeking indemnification from Lord pursuant to the waiver of liability form. However, the Washington court dismissed Chew's indemnification claims as they were compulsory counterclaims that Chew was required to assert in Lord's Nevada personal injury action (which he never did). Although Chew tried to avoid the indemnity claims being labeled as compulsory by arguing that they were not mature at the time he filed his answer in the Nevada personal injury action (*Id.* at 29), the Washington court <u>disagreed</u> noting that the indemnity claims had

matured at that time <u>since Chew had already incurred defense costs in the Nevada</u> action:

"[A]t that time [when Chew filed his answer in the Nevada personal injury action], he had already incurred legal costs associated with defending the Nevada action." [Emphasis Supplied] Id. at 30.

The Former Directors cite Ingersoll-Rand Co. v. Valery Energy Corp., 997 S.W.2d 203 (Tex.1999), in support of the argument that their indemnity claims were not compulsory counterclaims given that there was no judgment against the Former Directors at the time the Association brought its lawsuit against them and thus the claims had not yet matured. [IB, pp.27-28]. However, in that case, the Texas Supreme Court noted that under Texas law (not Florida law), there are two types of indemnity agreements – those indemnifying against liabilities and those indemnifying against damages. Id. at 207. The court determined that the indemnity agreement at issue in that case was against liabilities since it contained extremely broad language holding the indemnities: "harmless" against "all claims" and The court noted that a claim under a liability indemnification "liabilities". Id. clause: "does not accrue, and thus is not mature, until the indemnitee's liability to the party seeking damages becomes fixed and certain." Id. at 208.

In contrast, Article XII of the Association's Bylaws contains a narrower indemnity provision *against damages* since it does not contain any of the above quoted language from the broader indemnity provision in *Ingersoll-Rand*. The

Texas Supreme Court cites in its decision to *Fidelity Mutual Life Insurance Company v. Kaminsky*, 820 S.W.2d 878 (Tex.App.1991), noting that a claim for this type of indemnity (against damages), <u>is compulsory</u> since it accrues when the indemnitee first begins incurring fees and costs in defending themselves:

"In Kaminsky, the court concluded that a contractual claim for attorney's fees, even though contingent on the outcome of the suit, was mature and compulsory. [footnote omitted]. The contractual provision on which Dr. Kaminsky relied established his contractual right to attorney's fees contingent on the result of the suit, but it did not indemnify him against other liabilities generally. It was not an indemnification agreement. Thus, the general rule that a cause of action accrues when facts come into existence that authorize the claimant to seek a judicial remedy applied in Kaminsky [footnote omitted]. Dr. Kaminsky's claim for attorney's fees accrued when he first incurred fees." [Emphasis Supplied] 997 S.W.2d at 210.

The indemnity claim based on Article XII of the Association's Bylaws had also matured when the Association commenced its lawsuit against the Former Directors in July, 2003 since Article XII reflects that the obligation to indemnify comes into existence upon the filing of: "...any action, suit, or proceeding to which he may be made a party by reason of his being or having been a Director or Officer of the Association...". [R.4, ¶19]. Compare, Safway Steel Products v. Casteel Construction Company, 1998 WL 792189 (N.D.Ind.1998).

In that case, Randall Corbett ("Corbett"), was an employee of Casteel Construction Corporation who was injured after picking up certain scaffolding equipment from Safway Steel Products ("Safway"). Corbett sued Safway in an

action for personal injuries which Safway settled by paying Corbett \$80,000.00 *Id*. at 2. Although Corbett signed a rental agreement when he picked up the scaffolding equipment containing certain indemnification provisions in favor of Safway, Safway failed to assert <u>any</u> indemnity claims against Corbett in the personal injury action.

Safway subsequently filed a *separate lawsuit* seeking indemnification from Corbett (and his employer), pursuant to the indemnification provision in the rental agreement Corbett had signed. However, Safway's indemnity claims were dismissed as they were compulsory counterclaims that Safway was required to assert in Corbett's personal injury action (which Safway never did). Although Safway tried to avoid the indemnity claims being labeled as compulsory by arguing that they were not mature at the time it filed its responsive pleadings in Corbett's personal injury action (*Id.* at 4), the court <u>disagreed</u> noting that:

"[I]f the indemnification clause in the document labeled 'Rental Agreement' is enforceable, the language *creates an obligation* to indemnify upon the filing of 'all actions or claims' against Safway. According to that language, this court must conclude, as did the court in Lear, ²⁰ that the right to indemnification became an enforceable right when Corbett filed his personal

²⁰ Referring to *Lear Resources, Inc. v. Uland*, 485 N.E.2d 134 (Ind.App.1985). In that case, the contractual indemnification clause created the obligation to indemnify: "against all claims, suits, obligations, liabilities and damages." *Id.* at 137. Based on the plain language of the indemnity provision, the court concluded that if the indemnity clause was enforceable, the right to be indemnified *came into being when a claim was filed* rather than with the entry of judgment. *Id.* The court further held that the right to enforce the indemnification clause *clearly existed as*

injury lawsuit in state court. And, because Safway failed to assert a right to indemnification against Corbett in the personal injury action, Safway is barred from asserting that right in the present suit." [Emphasis Supplied]. Id.

Compare, Mobile Power Enterprises, Inc. v. Power Vac, Inc., 496 F.2d 1311 (10th Cir. 1974) (In a lawsuit for personal injuries and property damage by a lessee against a lessor of certain equipment, the lessor could not recover attorneys fees and costs incurred in defending the lawsuit pursuant to an indemnity provision in the lease agreement since the lessor failed to assert the indemnity claim as a compulsory counterclaim during the course of the lessee's lawsuit); Waikiki Hobron Associates v. Investment Mortgage, Inc., 13 B.R. 700, 703 (Bankr.D.Haw.1981) ("For procedural purposes a claim for indemnification is ripe for adjudication and may be tendered in a pending action in which primary liability is being adjudicated").

In sum, the Former Directors' indemnity claims had clearly matured at the time the Association commenced its lawsuit against the Former Directors. As such, the Former Directors were obligated to assert such claims in the Counterclaim they filed in the Association's Lawsuit. However, the Former Directors never raised such compulsory claims despite having three and a half (3½) years to do so prior to the trial. As such, they waived their right to assert such claims.

6

either a claim or a defense in the original suit and, because it was never raised, it was barred as a basis for subsequent legal action.

Despite the foregoing, the Former Directors persist in arguing that their indemnification claims: "are not compulsory counterclaims" [IB, p.25]. Yet, they fail to cite a single Florida case standing for that proposition. Instead, they cite to *International Airport Centers, L.L.C. v. Citrin*, 455 F.3d 749 (7th Cir. 2006) and *Battenfeld Of America Holding Co., Inc., et al v. Baird, Kurtz & Dobson*, 1999 WL 1096047 (D.Kan.1999) in support of such an argument. [IB, pp.25-26]. However, both of these cases are inapposite.

In *International Airport Centers*, an employee (Citrin), was sued by his employer for breach of fiduciary duty in the Northern District Court of Illinois. *Id.* at 749. Citrin brought a separate lawsuit against his employer in the Delaware Chancery Court seeking advancement of his expenses in defending against the employer's lawsuit based on a provision in his employment agreement entitling him to have his employer pay his expenses of defending any suit brought against him: "in advance of the final disposition of such action." *Id.* at 751. The employer filed a motion to enjoin Citrin from seeking such advancement which was denied by the Illinois District Court. On appeal, the Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed the denial of the motion determining that the advancement claim was not a compulsory counterclaim.

44

In reaching that determination, the Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals specifically noted that the advancement claim was not compulsory (and thus did not have to be asserted in the employer's action), because Citrin's entitlement to advancement was *independent* of the merits and outcome of the employer's suit against him:

"And since entitlement to advancement is independent of the merits of the suit for which the money is sought [citations omitted], the claim for advancement is not a compulsory counterclaim to that suit. For the claim does not arise out of the litigation; it arises out of the employment contract." *Id.* at 715. [Emphasis Supplied]

Unlike Citrin's advancement claim in *International Airport Centers*, the Former Directors' indemnity claims are compulsory since entitlement is <u>not</u> independent of the merits of the suit for which the money is sought (i.e. – the Association's Lawsuit). To the contrary, the Former Directors' entitlement is inextricably intertwined with the merits of the Association's breach of fiduciary duty claim. For example, indemnity based on Article XII of the Association's Bylaws is not available if the Former Directors are: "...finally adjudged in such action, suit or proceeding, to be liable for or guilty of gross negligence or willful misconduct." [R.4, ¶19], [R.76]. Indemnity based on Fla. Stat. §607.0850(3) requires the Former Directors to be: "...successful on the merits or otherwise in defense of any proceeding...". Indemnity based on Fla. Stat. §607.0850(9)(c) is

only permissible if the court determines that the Former Directors are entitled to it:

"..in view of all the relevant circumstances..."

Based on all of the foregoing, *International Airport Centers* supports the Association's position that the Former Directors' indemnity claims are compulsory counterclaims that had to be asserted in their Counterclaim filed in the Association's Lawsuit since they arise out of and are intertwined with the merits of that suit.²¹

The Former Directors also suggest that the indemnity claims were not mature when they filed their answer to the Association's Second Amended Complaint because no payments had yet been made as of that time on the principal's liability.²² However, the Fourth District Court of Appeal in *Wendt* did not have

The Former Directors' reliance on *Battenfeld Of America Holding Co., Inc., supra,* is also misplaced since the District Court never addressed whether Dr. Kruger's claim against Baird, Kurtz & Dobson ("BKD") for mandatory indemnification pursuant to K.S.A. §17-6305 was compulsory such that Dr. Kruger waived the claim by failing to raise it in the lawsuit prior to being dismissed as a party. Unlike the Association in the case *sub judice,* BKD never made the argument that Dr. Kruger's indemnity claim was compulsory and had been waived. Thus, the District Court was never called upon to address those issues.

The Former Directors rely on the following cases in support of this argument. See, U.S. v. Olavarrieta, 812 F.2d 640, 644 (11th Cir. 1987); Alvarez v. Apollo Ship Chandlers, Inc., 2002 WL 31933666 (S.D.Fla.2002); Dominion of Canada v. State Farm And Casualty Co., 754 So.2d 852 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000); Attorney's Title Insurance Fund, Inc. v. Punta Gorda Isles, Inc., 547 So.2d 1250 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989); Fireman's Fund Insurance Company v. Rojas, 409 So.2d 1166 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982). [IB. pp.26-27].

jurisdiction to consider this argument (nor does this Court), since it was <u>not</u> raised in the Former Directors' memorandum in opposition to the motion to dismiss. [R.154-170]. Thus, it has not been preserved for appellate review. As this Court pointed out in *Savona*, *supra*, it only has the discretionary authority to consider issues other than those upon which its jurisdiction is based *when such other issues have been properly briefed and argued below*. 648 So.2d at 707. "It is well settled that arguments raised for the first time on appeal are not preserved and are therefore waived." *Dade County School Board v. Radio Station WQBA*, 731 So.2d 638, 644 (Fla. 1999).²³

Even assuming, *arguendo*, that this Court had jurisdiction to consider this argument and the cases cited in support (footnote twenty-two), they are inapposite since they all involved indemnification claims *whose existence was contingent upon a finding of liability by an insured to a third-party* (i.e. – they were indemnity claims asserted in the context of lawsuits by sureties/insurance companies *against*

While the Former Directors did briefly refer to this argument in their Motion For Reconsideration Or Rehearing regarding the Dismissal Order [R. 270-271, ¶8], that motion did <u>not</u> preserve the argument for appellate review. The rehearing motion was abandoned by virtue of the Former Directors having filed their Notice of Appeal from the Dismissal Order *prior to entry of an order on the rehearing motion. See*, Rule 9.020(h)(3), Fla.R.App.P. (stating that, if a notice of appeal is filed before an order is entered disposing of a timely filed motion for rehearing, the motion will be deemed abandoned).

third-party tortfeasor(s) who were responsible for the damages paid out by the sureties/insurers on behalf of their insureds).²⁴

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